2008

Gina M. Arnold and Charlie S. Arnold v. Gary B. White M.D., Uintah Basin Medical Center and David Grigsby, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a judgment of the Court of Appeals of Utah, *Arnold v. Grigsby*, 2008 UT App 58, 180 P.3d 188, filed February 28, 2008, reversing the trial court's summary judgment order in favor of David Grigsby, M.D. Therefore, the Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(a) (Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction over "a judgment of the Court of Appeals").

II.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The issue presented is whether Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4 (recently recodified as 78B-3-404) is subject to tolling under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35 (recently recodified as 78B-2-104).¹ Although the trial court found "that Plaintiffs discovered the alleged injury no later than November 1999, which discovery started the running of the two-year statute of limitations, per Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4," and that "the statute of limitations for this action against Dr. Grigsby began running more than two years prior to Plaintiffs filing their complaint on December 04, 2001," the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Dr. Grigsby, holding that "the tolling statute, *section 78-12-35*, applies to medical malpractice claims otherwise governed by the Malpractice Act", and "the tolling

¹Defendant/Appellant notes that the legislature has recodified Title 78, a change that went into effect on February 7, 2008. Because the renumbering does not change the analysis below, and because any substantive changes do not apply to this analysis, Defendant/Appellant will cite to the version of Title 78 that was cited by the parties in their briefs and in the Court of Appeals' opinion. See *Medel v. State*, 2008 UT 32, n. 2.

statute suspends the running of the statute of limitations during the time a defendant is absent from the state.” *Arnold v. Grigsby*, 2008 UT App 58, ¶ 24.

As both the application of a statute of limitations and the interpretation of statutory provisions present questions of law, the standard of review is one of correctness. *See Russell Packard Dev., Inc. v. Carson*, 2005 UT 14, ¶ 18, 108 P.3d 741 (“The applicability of a statute of limitations . . . [is a] question[] of law, which we review for correctness.”) (quoting *Spears v. Warr*, 2002 UT 24, ¶ 32, 44 P.3d 742); *Sill v. Hart*, 2007 UT 45, ¶ 5, 162 P.3d 1099 (“This case presents an issue of statutory interpretation, a question of law that we review for correctness.”) On certiorari, the Utah Supreme Court reviews the decision of the Court of Appeals of Utah, not the trial court. *John Holmes Constr., Inc. v. R.A. McKell Excavating, Inc.*, 2005 UT 83, ¶ 6, 131 P.3d 199 (“On certiorari, we review the decision of the court of appeals, not the trial court.”) As the decision of the Court of Appeals of Utah rests on questions of statutory interpretation, the Utah Supreme Court reviews the Court of Appeals’ decision for correctness, affording no deference to the Court of Appeals’ legal conclusions. *Fla. Asset Fin. Corp. v. Utah Labor Comm’n*, 2006 UT 58, ¶ 8, 147 P.3d 1189 (“As the decision of the court of appeals rests on questions of statutory interpretation, we review it for correctness, affording no deference to the court of appeals’ legal conclusions.”)

The issues were preserved below in the memoranda filed by the Defendant/Appellant. R. 15-30, 31-33, 143-151, 154-157, 177-198, 233-260, 335-370, 371-381, and 382-405.

III.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

The following constitutional provisions, statutes and regulations are determinative or important to the resolution of this appeal.

1. United States Constitution, Article I, Section 8, Clause 3. Power of Congress to regulate commerce.

To regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes;

2. Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35. Effect of absence from state.

Where a cause of action accrues against a person when he is out of the state, the action may be commenced within the term as limited by this chapter after his return to the state. If after a cause of action accrues he departs from the state, the time of his absence is not part of the time limited for the commencement of the action.

3. Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-36. Effect of disability.

If a person entitled to bring an action, other than for the recovery of real property, is at the time the cause of action accrued, either under the age of majority or mentally incompetent and without a legal guardian, the time of the disability is not a part of the time limited for the commencement of the action.

4. Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-2. Legislative findings and declarations - Purpose of act.

The legislature finds and declares that the number of suits and claims for damages and the amount of judgments and settlements arising from health care has increased greatly in recent years. Because of these increases the insurance industry has substantially increased the cost of

medical malpractice insurance. The effect of increased insurance premiums and increased claims is increased health care cost, both through the health care providers passing the cost of premiums to the patient and through the provider's practicing defensive medicine because he views a patient as a potential adversary in a lawsuit. Further, certain health care providers are discouraged from continuing to provide services because of the high cost and possible unavailability of malpractice insurance.

In view of these recent trends and with the intention of alleviating the adverse effects which these trends are producing in the public's health care system, it is necessary to protect the public interest by enacting measures designed to encourage private insurance companies to continue to provide health-related malpractice insurance while at the same time establishing a mechanism to ensure the availability of insurance in the event that it becomes unavailable from private companies.

In enacting this act, it is the purpose of the legislature to provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced against health care providers while limiting that time to a specific period for which professional liability insurance premiums can be reasonably and accurately calculated, and to provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims.

5 Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4 Statute of limitations—Exceptions—Application

(1) No malpractice action against a health care provider may be brought unless it is commenced within two years after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever first occurs.

(2) The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons, regardless of minority or other legal disability under Section 78-12-36 or any other provision of the law, and shall apply retroactively to all persons, partnerships, associations and corporations and to all health care providers and to all malpractice actions against health care providers based upon alleged personal injuries which occurred prior to the effective date of this act, provided, however, that any action which under former law could have been commenced after the effective date of this act may be commenced only within the unelapsed portion of time allowed under former law, but any action which under former law

could have been commenced more than four years after the effective date of this act may be commenced only within four years after the effective date of this act.

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal was brought challenging the judgment of the Court of Appeals of Utah, which reversed the district court's summary judgment in favor of the Defendant/Appellant David Grigsby, M.D. (hereinafter "Dr. Grigsby"). Dr. Grigsby moved for summary judgment against Plaintiffs/Appellees Gina M. Arnold and Charlie S. Arnold (hereinafter the "Arnolds") regarding their medical malpractice claim against him because the statute of limitations, set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4 of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act (the "Act"), had run against Dr. Grigsby. R. 576-84.

Following briefing by the parties, the trial court on November 21, 2005, and December 20, 2005, entered its orders granting Dr. Grigsby's motion for summary judgment. R. 853-60, 871-73. In reaching its decision, the trial court determined that the tolling statute, Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35, did not apply. R. 853-54, 904-05. Although the trial court rejected Defendant/Appellant's argument that the tolling statute did not apply to medical malpractice cases, the trial court nevertheless determined that because Dr. Grigsby could have been served in accordance with Utah's long-arm statute, Utah Code Ann. §§ 78-27-24 to -25, the tolling statute did not work to suspend the running of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act's two-year limitations period, even though Dr. Grigsby was absent from Utah as he had moved to Tennessee to practice medicine in that state. R. 853-

54, 904-05 In granting the motion for summary judgment, the trial court found “that Plaintiffs discovered the alleged injury no later than November 1999, which discovery started the running of the two-year statute of limitations, per Utah Code Ann § 78-14-4,” and that “the statute of limitations for this action against Dr Grigsby began running more than two years prior to Plaintiffs filing their complaint on December 04, 2001.” R 853-54, 904-05 The court also found that “the plaintiffs’ claim against Dr Grigsby is time-barred on its face.” R 859

The Arnolds appealed the trial court’s decision to the Court of Appeals of Utah. The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court’s summary judgment in favor of Dr Grigsby, holding that “the tolling statute, *section 78-12-35*, applies to medical malpractice claims otherwise governed by the Malpractice Act the tolling statute suspends the running of the statute of limitations during the time a defendant is absent from the state.” *Arnold v Grigsby*, 208 UT App 58 ¶ 24

The Utah Supreme Court granted the Defendant/Appellant’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari to determine whether Utah Code Ann § 78-14-4, the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act’s statute of limitations, is subject to the general tolling statute, Utah Code Ann § 78-12-35

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are relevant to the issues presented to this Court for review

1 The Arnolds filed their complaint on December 4, 2001, bringing a medical

malpractice action against Dr. Grigsby and others, which action arose from the care provided to Mrs. Arnold on July 22, 1999, and alleged, “The procedure and other care provided to Gina Arnold by Dr. White and/or Dr. Grigsby were performed in a negligent manner. As a result, her colon was perforated and she was otherwise injured.” R. 3.

2. The Arnolds further alleged in their complaint, “Commencing on July 23, 1999, and continuing thereafter, Gina Arnold was a patient of Dr. White’s and/or Dr. Grigsby’s at UBMC [Uintah Basin Medical Center] for the purposes of treating the symptoms and injuries resulting from the perforation of her bowel and the resulting infection. The care provided to her by Dr. White and/or Dr. Grigsby was performed in a negligent manner.” R. 3.

3. Mrs. Arnold was initially discharged from Uintah Basin Medical Center on July 27, 1999, and the Discharge Summary dated July 27, 1999, identifies Dr. Grigsby by name, providing, “It was Dr. Grigsby’s opinion that the air should have stayed there for three or four days before it finally dissipated.” R. 793.

4. Mrs. Arnold was readmitted to Uintah Basin Medical Center and the medical record, including the Operative Report dated August 3, 1999, clearly identifies that Dr. Grigsby was actively involved in the August 3, 1999, surgery. R.795.

5. The medical record contains a consultation report concerning Mrs. Arnold from Dr. Grigsby dated August 5, 1999. R. 797-98.

6. Dr. Grigsby performed another surgery on Mrs. Arnold on August 11, 1999, as indicated in the Operative Report dated August 11, 1999. R. 800.

7. The Arnolds both testified in their depositions that they were aware that Dr. Grigsby was involved in Mrs. Arnold's treatment while she was still at Uintah Basin Medical Center prior to her being transferred to St. Mark's Hospital in Salt Lake City on August 16, 1999. R. 804-07, 812-13.

8. Dr. Grigsby testified that he had a number of conversations with the plaintiffs during the time Mrs. Arnold was at Uintah Basin Medical Center. R. 816-20.

9. Mrs. Arnold testified that in September, 1999, she consulted an attorney because she suspected something had gone wrong with her care between July 22, 1999, and August 16, 1999, stating, "I just knew something hadn't happened right." R. 808-09.

10. By September 28, 1999, Mrs. Arnold was represented by counsel, at which time she signed before a notary public her Authorization for and Request for Release of Medical Information to her attorney, Harold A. Hintze. R. 828.

11. By letter from her attorney dated November 16, 1999, Mrs. Arnold was aware of "complications arising from an initial diagnosis and treatment of her for an intestinal condition" and asserted that "complications following the initial treatment of Mrs. Arnold rendered her totally incapacitated and prohibited her from maintaining gainful employment." By that date, Mrs. Arnold, through her attorney, had begun an investigation into possible medical malpractice claims as indicated in her attorney's letter to Uintah Basin Medical Center that "this office investigates the possibility of claims that may be filed in relation to her initial diagnosis and/or treatment." R. 825-26.

12. Dr. Grigsby moved from Roosevelt, Utah, in July, 2000, to practice medicine

in Oneida, Tennessee R 735, 815, 855

13 Dr Grigsby was not served with a notice of intent to commence action as required by Utah Code Ann § 78-14-8, and no request for a prelitigation panel review as required by Utah Code Ann § 78-14-12 was made until March 18, 2004 R 580

14 After the Plaintiffs' Complaint was filed naming Dr Grigsby on December 4, 2001, and following briefing by the parties and oral argument, on November 21, 2005, and December 20, 2005, the trial court entered its orders granting Dr Grigsby's motion for summary judgment R 853-60, 871-73 In reaching its decision, the trial court determined that the tolling statute, Utah Code Ann § 78-12-35, did not apply R 853-54, 904-05 Although the trial court rejected Defendant/Appellant's argument that the tolling statute did not apply to medical malpractice cases, the trial court nevertheless determined that because Dr Grigsby could have been served in accordance with Utah's long-arm statute, Utah Code Ann §§ 78-27-24 to -25, the tolling statute did not work to suspend the running of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act's two-year limitations period, even though Dr Grigsby was absent from Utah as he had moved to Tennessee to practice medicine in that state R 853-54, 904-05 In granting the motion for summary judgment, the trial court found "that Plaintiffs discovered the alleged injury no later than November 1999, which discovery started the running of the two-year statute of limitations, per Utah Code Ann § 78-14-4," and that "the statute of limitations for this action against Dr Grigsby began running more than two years prior to Plaintiffs filing their complaint on December 04, 2001 " R 853-54, 904-05 The trial court also found that "the plaintiffs' claim against Dr Grigsby is

time-barred on its face.” R. 859

15 The Arnolds filed a Notice of Appeal on May 22, 2006. R. 907-909

16 Following briefing by the parties and oral argument, the Court of Appeals of Utah, on February 28, 2008, filed its judgment reversing the trial court’s summary judgment order in favor of David Grigsby, M.D. *Arnold v. Grigsby*, 2008 UT App 58, ¶ 24. The Utah Court of Appeals held that the tolling statute, *section 78-12-35*, applies to medical malpractice claims otherwise governed by the Malpractice Act. The tolling statute suspends the running of the statute of limitations during the time a defendant is absent from the state.” *Id.*

17 Dr. Grigsby filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Utah Supreme Court on March 24, 2008.

18 In an Order entered June 13, 2008, the Utah Supreme Court granted Dr. Grigsby’s Petition for Writ of Certiorari as to the issue of whether Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4 (recently recodified as 78B-3-404) is subject to tolling under Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35 (recently recodified as 78B-2-104).”

VI.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Arnolds’ medical malpractice action arises out of the care provided to Mrs. Arnold by Dr. Grigsby and others at the Uintah Basin Medical Center between July 22, 1999, and August 16, 1999. R. 1-4. Because this is a medical malpractice action, it is governed by the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act (the Act), Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-1

et seq. The legislature expressly specified that the purpose of the Act is to provide a fixed time to bring malpractice claims: “In enacting this act [Utah Health Care Malpractice Act], it is the purpose of the legislature to provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced against health care providers while limiting that time to a specific period for which professional liability insurance premiums can be reasonably and accurately calculated.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-2. To achieve this purpose, with regard to the abbreviated statute of limitations for medical malpractice claims, the legislature specified, “The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons, regardless of minority or other legal disability under Section 78-12-36 *or any other provision of the law.*” Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4(2). (Emphasis added.)

The trial court, the Utah Court of Appeals, the federal district court for Utah, and the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals have each interpreted Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4(2) to have a different meaning in reaching different conclusions, indicating the ambiguity of this statute. Given the ambiguity of Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4(2), the statute should be interpreted as to harmonize its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose expressly stated in Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-2. Given the legislature’s expressly stated purpose for the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act in Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-2, the statutory language indicating that the fixed statute of limitations for medical malpractice claims shall apply to all persons regardless of any other provision of the law clearly harmonizes with the legislative intent and purpose of the Act. Therefore, medical malpractice actions must be brought within two years regardless of other tolling provisions.

By specific legislative mandate, the commencing of a medical action must “be brought unless it is commenced within two years after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury,” and is not subject to general tolling provisions because “[t]he provisions of this section shall apply to all persons, regardless of minority or other legal disability under Section 78-12-36 *or any other provision of the law*” Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4 (Emphasis added.) Thus, general tolling provisions, including Section 78-12-35, do not apply to the Arnolds’ medical malpractice claim against Dr. Grigsby. Therefore, the Arnolds’ failure to timely commence their medical malpractice action against Dr. Grigsby within two years after they knew or should have known of a possible injury is not cured by the application of any tolling statute outside the specific mandates of the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act.

Despite having discovered the alleged injury and suspecting negligence no later than November 1999 (and actually even earlier when they encountered an attorney in September, 1999), the Arnolds disregarded the requirements of the Act concerning Dr. Grigsby by filing their complaint on December 4, 2001—more than two years after the statute of limitations had begun to run. R. 853-54, 904-05. Based on established principles of statutory interpretation, the Arnolds’ “claim against Dr. Grigsby is time-barred on its face.” R. 859

VII.
ARGUMENT

I.

**THE UTAH COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT DR. GRIGSBY'S
ABSENCE FROM UTAH TOLLED THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BECAUSE
THE UTAH HEALTH CARE MALPRACTICE ACT'S STATUTE OF
LIMITATIONS IS SUBJECT TO TOLLING UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-35.**

The Court of Appeals of Utah held that the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act's two-year statute of limitations, set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4, was subject to the general statutory tolling provision of Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-35. *Arnold v. Grigsby*, 208 UT App 58, 180 P.3d 188. Although the trial court found "that Plaintiffs discovered the alleged injury no later than November 1999, which discovery started the running of the two-year statute of limitations, per Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-4" and that "the statute of limitations for this action against Dr. Grigsby began running more than two years prior to Plaintiffs filing their complaint on December 04, 2001," the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's summary judgment in favor of Dr. Grigsby, holding that "the tolling statute, *section 78-12-35*, applies to medical malpractice claims otherwise governed by the Malpractice Act . . . the tolling statute suspends the running of the statute of limitations during the time a defendant is absent from the state." *Arnold v. Grigsby*, 2008 UT App 58, ¶ 24.

The Utah Supreme Court has indicated, "When we interpret statutes, our primary goal is to give effect to the legislature's intent in light of the purpose the statute was meant to

achieve ” *Evans v State*, 963 P 2d 177, 185 (Utah 1998) The *Evans* court went on to point out

We therefore look first to the statute’s plain language We need not look beyond its plain language unless we find some ambiguity in it Statutory language is ambiguous if it can reasonably be understood to have more than one meaning

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