2008

Gina M. Arnold and Charlie S. Arnold v. Gary B. White, M.D., Uintah Basin Medical Center, and David Grigsby, M.D. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Cir. 2007)(unpublished), it is similarly of no precedential value, and represents an incorrect analysis of the statute at issue.⁵

Dr. Grigsby asserts that the lower courts in this very case have also attributed different meanings to Section 78-14-4(2), and then says that this suggests an ambiguity. In making that argument, however, Dr. Grigsby takes the lower courts' opinions out of context and misconstrues the Court of Appeals' holding. The trial court and the Court of Appeals attributed the same meaning to the Section 78-14-4(2), and their respective ruling and opinion do not demonstrate any ambiguity in the statute. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals cited favorably the trial court's ruling in its own analysis of the issue. Both courts concluded that the words "or any other provision of the law" "refer[ed] to party status, rather than to removing this [two-year limitation] provision from the scope of all other provisions of law." Opinion at ¶ 14.

The questioned ambiguity in this case is not whether the latter phrase "or any other provision of the law" modifies the word "minority" or the word "legal disability," but rather, whether the later phrase "or any other provision of the law" applies to the earlier

⁵ One reason for the ruling in *Griffiths-Rast* may be that the statutory-language argument upon which the Court of Appeals ruled here was not raised in the federal district court. In *Griffiths-Rast*, the defendant filed a motion for summary judgment based on the two-year statute of limitations. *Griffiths-Rast v. Sulzer Spine Tech, et al.*, 2:02-cv-01267, U. S. District Court, Central Division (Docket No. 59). In response, the plaintiff raised the out-of-state tolling provision. (Docket No. 65.) In his reply, the doctor asserted for the first time that the out-of-state tolling provision does not apply to medical malpractice claims. (Docket No. 73.) The plaintiff did not have an opportunity to, and did not, argue that the medical malpractice statute addressed only disability-related tolling provisions. Given that the relevant arguments were not raised or briefed before the federal district court, its discussion of the statute provides little insight here.

phrase stating, “the provisions of this section shall apply to all persons, regardless of...”

Both courts below reached the same conclusion – that it does not – and the holdings of the lower courts do not support an argument that the statute is ambiguous.

The medical malpractice statute of limitation in Section 78-14-4(2) is plain and unambiguous, as both lower courts concluded. It provides that the two-year malpractice statute of limitation is not tolled by minority or legal disability arising under any provision of Utah law. It does not provide that the two-year malpractice statute of limitation is excepted from the out-of-state tolling statute. The Court of Appeals’ reasoning was sound.

B. The application of well-accepted principles of statutory construction to Section 78-14-4 mandates the conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to exempt health care malpractice claims from the out-of-state tolling provisions of Section 78-12-35.

The Court of Appeals noted that, had the Legislature intended the malpractice statute of limitation to “be beyond the reach of all other tolling statutes, including those unrelated to ‘minority or other legal disability,’ it would have explicitly said so.” Opinion at ¶ 18. Indeed, “[t]he Utah Legislature has demonstrated that if it seeks specifically to exempt a statute from the tolling statute, it will do so with clear, explicit language.” *Bonneville Asphalt v. Labor Comm’n*, 2004 UT App 137, ¶ 8, 91 P.3d 849, 852 (Utah App.2004). Here, there is an utter absence of clear, explicit language stating that the tolling statute does not apply to medical malpractice claims.

The multitude of ways that the Legislature could have clearly expressed such an intention is evidence that its absence was intentional. As an example, all the Legislature would have needed to do to resolve the entire question before this Court is to include

another sentence in Section 78-14-4(2) stating something like ‘the two-year statute of limitations set forth in subsection (1) is not subject to tolling under Section 78-12-35.’ That is very plain and unambiguous language. Such language is notably absent, however, and nothing similar is contained anywhere in the Healthcare Malpractice Act.

It is a well-accepted maxim of statutory construction that “*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*” -- that the expression of one thing is evidence of the exclusion of the other. *See, e.g., Carrier v. Salt Lake County*, 2004 UT 98, ¶ 30, 104 P.3d 1208 (““statutory construction presumes that the expression of one should be interpreted as the exclusion of another.”) The Legislature chose to state specifically that the two-year malpractice statute of limitations applies without regard for minority or legal disability under Section 78-12-36. It did not state anything in the Act about other tolling statutes, such as the immediately preceding section, 78-12-35.

In *Olseth v. Larson*, 2007 UT 29, ¶ 39, 158 P.3d 532, a case holding that the out-of-state tolling statute applies without regard for amenability to service of process, this Court stated that it “the Utah Legislature is aware of the tolling statute” and that it “presume[s] the Legislature is aware of [its] case law” regarding the out-of-state tolling statute. This Court has a long jurisprudence of enforcing the provisions of the out-of-state tolling statute. *See, e.g., Keith-O’Brien Co. v. Snyder*, 51 Utah 227, 169 P. 954 (1917); *Buell v. Duchesne Mercantile Co.*, 64 Utah 391, 231 P. 123 (1924); *Goss v. Hunting*, 561 P.2d 1071 (Utah 1977). Although this Court has refined its interpretation of the tolling statute, *see, e.g., Lund v. Hall*, 938 P.2d 285 (Utah 1997), its vitality has not

been called into question. The legislature is thus presumed to be have been aware of Section 78-12-35 when it amended the medical malpractice statute.

Grigsby argues in his brief before this Court that the case of *Blum v. Stone*, 752 P.2d 898 (Utah 1988) supports a conclusion that the out-of-state tolling provision in Section 78-12-35 does not apply to medical malpractice claims. However, that case is inapplicable to the case at bar, because in *Blum*, this Court only construed the interplay between the two-year malpractice statute of limitation and the disability tolling provision in Section 78-12-36. The Court afforded no consideration of Section 78-12-35, nor could it, because there was no issue raised in that case regarding the defendant's absence from the state after the accrual of a cause of action against him.

In sum, the lack of any express intent to exempt malpractice claims from tolling under Section 78-12-36, prior jurisprudence from this Court construing the tolling statute, the presumption that the Legislature chose its wording advisedly, and the express inclusion of a reference to one tolling statute but not another in the malpractice statute of limitation, all support the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the Legislature did not intend to except the out-of-state tolling statute from the medical malpractice statute of limitation.

C. The legislative history giving rise to the 1979 amendment of the malpractice statute of limitations demonstrates that the Legislature had no intent to exempt health care malpractice claims from the out-of-state tolling statute.

While concluding that Section 78-14-4 is unambiguous, the Court of Appeals noted that the statute's legislative history is consistent with the court's interpretation. The medical malpractice statute of limitation in Section 78-14-4 was enacted in 1976. As enacted, the pertinent portion read:

The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons regardless of minority or other disability and shall apply retroactively to all persons, partnerships, associations, and corporations and to all health care providers and to all malpractice actions against health care providers based upon alleged personal injuries which occurred prior to the effective date of this act;

See Laws of the State of Utah, 1976, attached hereto as Exhibit D, and *Blum*, 753 P.2d at 900 (emphasis added).

The Legislature has amended Section 78-14-4 once, in 1979. The amendment was expressly in response to a decision of this Court in *Scott v. School Bd. of Granite School District*, 568 P.2d 746 (Utah 1977), which was decided one year after the malpractice statute of limitation's enactment. In *Scott*, this Court held that the medical malpractice statute of limitations was tolled under the disability tolling statute, Section 78-12-36, as a result of the minor plaintiff's legal age and legal incapacity. In *Scott*, the plaintiff a minor acting through his guardian *ad litem*, filed suit against a school district for injuries received in a shop class. The minor, however, failed to give timely notice of his claim under the Governmental Immunity Act. The trial court granted summary judgment to the school district, holding that the statutory requirement for giving notice under the Governmental Immunity Act trumped the disability tolling statute governing minors. Overruling prior decisions, this Court reversed, holding that minors were entitled to the protection afforded by the disability tolling statute in all cases. *Id.* at 748.

Soon afterward, in 1979, the Legislature amended Section 78-14-4(2) to include the statutory provision at issue herein. The Legislature expressly stated that its intent was to overturn *Scott*. *See Blum*, 752 P.2d at 900 n. 2 (mentioning floor discussions making clear that the amendments to Section 78-14-4(2) were enacted "in order to overturn a

Supreme Court decision which has recently come down,” *i.e. Scott*). The new version of the malpractice statute of limitation said (with the words added by the 1979 amendment underlined):

The provisions of this section shall apply to all persons, regardless of minority or other legal disability under § 78-12-36 or any other provision of the law, and shall apply retroactively to all persons, partnerships, associations, and corporations and to all health care providers and to all malpractice actions against health care providers based upon alleged personal injuries which occurred prior to the effective date of this act;

See Laws of the State of Utah, 1979, pp. 739-740, included herewith in Exhibit D.

The intent of the 1979 amendment was clear—the legislature did not want *minority or legal disability* to toll the medical malpractice limitation period, hence the added reference to Section 78-12-36. Even if Section 78-14-4 were considered ambiguous, this history confirms the correctness of the Court of Appeals ruling.

D. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the application of the out-of-state tolling statute is not contrary to the purposes of the Healthcare Malpractice Act, and no legislative intent to exempt the malpractice statute of limitations from the out-of-state tolling statute is derived or inferred from the other provisions of the Act.

None of the provisions of the Healthcare Malpractice Act cited by Grigsby in his brief to this Court states that the tolling statute set forth in Section 78-12-35 is excepted from the two-year medical malpractice statute of limitation in Section 78-14-4(2). Rather than pointing to a clear and unmistakable express intent, Dr. Grigsby asks this Court to divine that intent from the general Legislative pronouncement in Section 78-14-2, as well as a prior opinion from this Court quoting that section.

First, Dr. Grigsby cites prefatory language in the Act, which states, “the purpose of the legislature [is] to provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced

against health care providers while limiting that time to a specific period for which professional liability insurance premiums can be reasonably and accurately calculated.” U.C.A. 78-14-2. However, as the Court of Appeals observed, the legislative declaration in 78-14-2 does not require a finding that the out-of-state tolling statute is inapplicable to claims against health care provider defendants, because application of the out-of-state tolling statute to medical malpractice claims does not defeat the purpose of the Act.

As the Court of Appeals indicated, application of the out-of-state tolling statute “still substantially limits the statute of limitations period for malpractice actions and still provides the needed predictability for insurance companies in the vast majority of cases.” Opinion at ¶ 19. Section 78-12-35 imposes a specific and well-defined period for tolling: the period of the defendant’s absence from the state after the claim arises. This is a explicit and discrete period of time, which is easily comprehended and straightforward from an analytical perspective.

The Court of Appeals also pointed out that its “interpretation should not cause malpractice insurance rates to increase and will not deter healthcare providers from leaving Utah. ... [A]ll medical providers need do to make sure the statute of limitations is not tolled if they leave Utah is appoint an agent within Utah to receive service of process for them.” Opinion at ¶ 19. The mere appointment of agent for service of process, an inexpensive and simple procedure, alleviates the effect of the tolling statute on the medical malpractice statute of limitation.

Dr. Grigsby argues that he is “unaware” of any “statutory procedure in Utah that permits a person who wishes to move out of state to register with the state for service of

process.” Brief of Appellant at 25. Notably, Dr. Grigsby does argue that such appointments are prohibited in Utah, but only that there is not a statute dealing with the subject. There is no need for a statutory procedure authorizing a person to appoint an agent for limited purposes; the law already affords individuals that ability.

II. DR. GRIGSBY DID NOT PRESERVE ANY CONSTITUTIONAL ARGUMENTS AGAINST THE APPLICATION OF THE TOLLING STATUTE.

Dr. Grigsby argues for the first time in Sections I.C. and I.D. of his brief that the interpretation of the medical malpractice statute of limitation urged by the Arnolds, and echoed by the trial court and Court of Appeals, imposes an “unreasonable burden on interstate commerce.” Brief of Appellant at 23. Implicitly acknowledging the absence of any such contention in the courts below, Dr. Grigsby attempts to argue that it is the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of the statute that gives rise to the undue burden on interstate commerce, but this is merely a roundabout way of arguing that the out-of-state tolling statute violates the dormant commerce clause of the United States Constitution.

Dr. Grigsby cannot claim that he had no opportunity to raise constitutional objections until the Court of Appeals ruled. The Court of Appeals adopted the very same interpretation of the statute as the trial court, and that the Arnolds expressly urged on appeal. Having chosen not to raise any constitutional arguments in either the trial court or the Court of Appeals, it is too late for Dr. Grigsby to do so now. This Court has repeatedly held that a party may not raise issues for the first time on appeal, and that issues not raised in the trial court are waived. *See Gardner v. Board of County Com'rs of Wasatch County*, 2008 UT 6, ¶ 32, 178 P.3d 893 (declining to address appellant's

constitutional due process regulatory takings argument, and holding that “[b]ecause the Landowners did not present that claim below, the claim is deemed waived and we will not address it for the first time on appeal.”); *Coleman ex rel. Schefski v. Stevens*, 2000 UT 98, ¶ 9, 17 P.3d 1122 (Utah 2000) (holding that plaintiff-appellant was precluded from raising issue of “whether a person has a constitutional right to control his or her medical treatment” because he failed to raise the issue before the trial court); *State v. Holgate*, 2000 UT 74, ¶ 11, 10 P.3d 346 (“[C]laims not raised before the trial court may not be raised on appeal.... [This] preservation rule applies to every claim, including constitutional questions....”).